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{¢) The current bridge. opened in 1960, nearing completion alongside the old crossing,
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“...the archaeclogical remains which have been brought to light in the Isle of Sheppey are scarcely
worthy of mention.” (Payne 1893, 96)

1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Purpose of the report

This Stage 3 Study, commissioned by Matt.-MacDonald of the Canterbury Archaeological Trust Ltd
(CAT hereafter), examines in detail the archagological setting and potential of the area affected by
the proposed route of the Sheppey stretch of the A249 realignment scheme, assesses the potential
impact of the schetne upon the archaeological resource and proposes possible ways of mitigating that
impact.' It is intended to serve as a detailed follow-up to recent reports by Wessex Archaeology on
a Stage 1 Desktop Study (Seager Smith & Filzpatrick 1992) and Stage 2 Preliminary Field Evaluation
(Fitzpatrick & Seager Smith 1992), both of which covered a wider study area centred on the entire
route, and to an informal note on the archaeological potential of the section of the preferred route
between Kingsferry Bridge and Main Road, near Queenborough (Pratt 1995b)}

1.2 Scope of the report

For the purposes of this report, the study area has been re-defined as comprising the easement of the
Sheppey stretch of the preferred route, including the Swale crossing and slip roads (fig.1). However,
in addition to sites and historic landscape elements which might be affected directly by the scheme,
documentary, archaeslogical and topographic evidence regarding some neighbouring sites and finds,
particularly at Kingsferry and along Queenborough Creck, is also examined. This material is
included in order both to provide an overall archaeological setting for the study area and to provide
some basis for assessment of the archaeological potential of the route, The paucity of earlier work,
and thus of direct evidence, makes recourse to such material unavoidable.

' "Sheppey" is used throughout this report in 1ts usual modern sense, /.., an amalgam of three
islands. Harty, Elmley and the Minster/Leysdown hills {which once formed Sheppey proper), together
with outliers at Rushenden and Queenborough. To these may be added shingle spits at Sheerness
and Shellness and the extensive marshes, generally inned (reclaimed) in the medieval period. The
suffix "-ey" derives from Old English -feg, indicating an island (Wallenberg 1931, 24): it is thus
tautological to refer to the Isle of Sheppey or of Elmley.

* Stages | to 3 are as defined in DOT 1994, section 3, part 2, chapter 8.




1.3 Methodology

The bulk of the reduced study area is under permanent pasture and the remainder, though arable, is
currently also under pasture, making fieldwalking unviable. Stage 2 fieldwork did include
preliminary fieldwalking, at 50m intervals, where appropriate within the original study area’ but only
a rapid surface scan to identify standing earthworks and other superficial features was feasible within
the reduced area addressed in this report. Preliminary fieldwork did not reveal the presence of any
hitherto unknown features along the preferred route and the current report does notseek to duplicate
the Stage 2 catalogue but integrates its results as appropriate. As noted below (paragraph 5.3.2),
intrusive shallow evaluation trenching is generally inappropriate in areas of permanent pasture whilst
any such work in arable land has been deferred until it may be better targeted. Shallow (2-3 m)
boreholes were drilled along two transects as part of the Stage 2 work but the results were
inconclusive, confirming only that the "recorded sequence is wholly alluvial, relating to infill and
general accretion of the Swale and the Medway Estuary pgeneralty during the later prehistonic and -
early historic periods" (Fitzpatrick & Seager Smith 1992, 14),

1.4 Structure of the report

Following the introduction, Section 2 examines some general aspects of the history and archaeology
of Sheppey which are necessary to an understanding of the potential of the study area, Section 3,
which integrates fieldwork results with desk-based studies, looks at more detailed evidence pertaining
to various stretches of the proposed route, commencing at the Swale and ending at Brielle Way, and
ta some neighbouring sites of relevance to the history of the exploitation of Queenborough Creek and
thus to the archaeological potential of the route's northern end. Section 4 consists of an assessment
of the likely archaeological impact of the construction project and Section 5 at ways by which that
unpact might be mitigated. Section 6 comprises a general summary of Scctions 4 and 5 whilst
bibliographic refercnces are listed in Section 7.

1.5 Acknowledgements

Sincere thanks are due to the many colleagues who have generously advised on various subjects
addressed in ths report, particularly Alexander Bartlett (remote sensing consultant), Martin Bates
(Geoarchaeological Services Facility, London Institute of Archaeology)., Nick' Branch (Royal
Holloway College), Tony Clarke (remote sensing consuttant), Simon Coleutt (Oxford Archaeological
Associates). [.iz Dyson (KCC Heritage), Robert Earl (Southern Water). Mark Harrison {Ovyster Coast
Geological and Archasological Survey), David Holman (Dover Archaeological Group), David Hughes
(Sheppey Hisionical Society), Peter Kendall (English Heritage), Richard Larr (naval historian) and
Nigel MacPherson Grant {ceramics consultant). Thanks are also due to C AT staff members Richard
Cross {addinonal archival research), Pete Atkins {figures | and 1), Dave Dobson (figure 14) and
Mark Duncan (figures 2 and 3). '

? "As no concentrations or generalised distributions of material earlier in date than the post-

medieval period were observed, no areas were selected for detailed collection and analysis"
(Frizpatrick & Seager Smith 1992, 13).




1.6 Regional reports

A recent study of the later geology and archacology of the North Kent Marshes concluded that the
archaeological potential of the area "is as great, or greater than [that] in other wetland areas of the
United Kingdom", although the probability of in situ prehistoric material in the Sheppey Marshes
away from their northern margin was considered relatively low (Barham, Bates & Whittaker 1991,
16, 18-19, 57; but see below, paragraphs 2.1.1 and 4.3.2). The strategic and economic importance
of studying paleo-environmental evidence from the marshes, particularly-but not exclusively when
in relation to archaeological deposits, has been stressed (op.cit.,, 50, 53-35, 59-60, . ¢f EH 1996, 2,
4). Recent general assessments of the standing monuments (RCHME 1993, passim; RCHME 1996,
passim) and of the buried archaeology (Brereton 1995, 41-43) of the East Thames Corridor/Thames
Gateway development area have highlighted.the archaeological potential of Sheppey and both the
Thames Estuary and the North Kent Coast have been identified as "areas of particularly high
archagological potential® (EH 1996, 10), Though now almost deserted, both Elmley and Harty have
experienced periods of relative prosperity in the historical era (McBride 1987, passim). Both these
15lands, Queenborough and Rushenden flank the Swale which, rather than the open estuaty, was the
preferred route for vessels sailing to and from London and the Medway towns up into the eighteenth
century (op.cit., 4-5). In general terms, study of the archaeology of islands often proves of particular
interest as they represent geographically distinct areas with readily defined catchment areas.

1.7 Recent geology

The hills around Minster represent outlizrs of Eccene London Clay {which also cxiends under the
marshes to the south) and of the Claygate and Bagshot Beds (Barham, Bates & Whittaker 1991, 4-5),
capped by Pleistocene Head Brickearth (IGS 1977). The higher parts of Elmley, Harty and
Queenborough/Rushenden are also formed by outcrops of London Clay. The courses of the Thames
and Medway varied very considerably during the Pleistocene but, when the sitation stabilised,
erosion of the earlier deposits left a shallow basin between these hills and the Kentjsh mainland
(Barham, Bates & Whittaker 1991, 5-6, 16). The complex and nationally unique Holocene geology
of the Thames/Medway Estuary is dominated by considerable changes in relative sea-level (Barham,
Bates & Whittaker 1991, 9-10, 57, Brereton 1995, 6-8). As elsewhere in the twin estuaries, the
basin’ would have been subject to alternate inundations (marine transgressions), when atluvial clays
‘would generally have been laid down, and drier periods (regressions), though the former would seem
to have predominated in the study area. Though subject to local variation, the general sequence of
relative rises and falls in sea levels has been established for the lower Thames Valley {Brereton 1995, .
6-7). This work indicates transgressions in the later mesolithic, the early nuolithic, the whole of the
bronze age, the nuddie iron age and in the second century AD.  The approximate coastline of the
Thames Estuary in the eartier mesolithic regression has recently been reconstructed (fig. 2, Wilkinson
& Murphy, paxsini)  To the north west of the study area, near Queenborouuh, the London Clay drops
away dramatically due to the presence of a paleo-channel of the Medway {Barham, Bates &
Whittaker 1991, 8-9. 10. M.Bates, pers.comm.), one cliff-like bank of which may have been located
beneath the Hoo peninsular (R Earl, pers.comm.). ' '
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1.8 Archaeology on Sheppey

George Payne's dismissiveness of a century ago was based upon absence of evidence rather than
evidence of absence. The paucity of finds then known may have been due in part to development
in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, the heyday of antiquarian research, having concentrated
on the archaeologically barren shingle bank at Sheerness. A vicious circle then developed: nothing
was found -- nothing was sought -- nothing was found. Authors of subsequent general histories of
Sheppey have-stended to follow Payne's assessment for all periods prior to the establishment of
Minster Abbey in c.675. However casual finds, made chiefly on building sites or by fossil hunters

or metal detectorists, have been gradually accumulating over the past century. Various small scale

excavations by the Sheppey Archaeological Society (SAS hereafter), Kent Archaeological Rescue
Unit (KARU hereafter) and CAT have also contributed significantly to the known assemblage over
the last two decades. Meanwhile, the fields of environmental, landscape, building and industrial
archaeology have developed: the scope of what may be defined as being of archaeological interest
or importance has thus widened appreciably.

2 ARCHAEOLOGICAL SETTING
2.1 Prehistoric settlement on Sheppey
2.1.1 General

Though relatively few prehistoric finds have been made an Sheppey, this would appaar 1o be due to
a poor recovery rate rather than a sparsity of original material (Brereton 1993 9y iU is notable in
this respect that the bulk of the known material consists of readily recognisable mietal and large flint
artefacts.  Given the wide range of exploitable resources available in estuarine settings {(McBride
1987, 1, 7-8; Barham, Bates & Whittaker 1991, passim), it 15 reasonable to suppose that most of the
isolated rises in the North Kent marshes (perhaps including some now buried beneath the alluviomy)
would have attracted prehistoric settlement during periods of relatively high sea-level, with
occupation spreading out into areas now under marsh or mud-flats during regressions, Late
Pleistocene or early Holocene land surfaces (equating archaeologically to the upper palaeolithic and
mesolithic periods) might be encountered on the northern margin of the Sheppey marshes, dipping
beneath the later marshland (op.cir., 8 13). It has been suggested that very little in situ prehistoric
archaeology is likely to lie beneath these marshes (op.cit, 16, 18-19) however. in addition to wall
preserved paleo-environmental evidence, there are some important exceptions to this rule. The
marshes are hikely to conceal prehistoric timber trackways leading to and from the various rises
(op.cit., 34), such us the bronze age path recently discovered at Greenwich {Philp & Garrod 1994,
passim) or the track found at Beckton in Newham (RCHME 1993, 10). More probable still is the

‘presence under the marshes of early boats such as the neolithic(?) duyg-out canoe from the Erith

Marshes (Crozier 1932, 243) and the undated dug-out from Murston, near Kemslev (Barham, Bates
& Whittaker 1991 32). Prehistoric fish-weirs might also be encountered (sse parawraph 2.3.4), On
the Kentish mainland. redeposited mesolithic material was recovered from the medieval site of Castle
Rough, near Kemsley (Mills 19733, 17; id. 1973b, 60-61). Mesolithic and neolithic OCCUpation sites
near Kemsley and Lower Halstow (Payne 1893 1-6; National Monument Record (NMR hereafter)
TQ 86 NE 3. 8 and 1 1) and at Motney Hill (R.Earl & J Jarvis, pers.comm.) all lie close to the +5
m QD contour, suggesting that the contemporary margin of dry land, whether adjoining marsh or
open water, may have lain close to the early medieval shore-line (see paragraphs 2.3.1 to 2.3.3).

3

See wntroductory quotation: Payne excepted Harty from his generalisation.




2.1.2 Structural evidence from Sheppey

Separate recent excavations by KARU (B.Philp & B.Corke, pers.comm) and by CAT have revealed
the presence of prehistoric features at Minster, the earliest perhaps late bronze age in date and
certainly no later than the early to mid iron age (Pratt 1995a, 27: Bennett 1994, 463-464). An
unexcavated mound above the +10 m OD contour on Elmley has been tentatively identified as a
bronze age round barrow, though the interpretation is dubious (NMR TQ 96 NW 17). A second
barrowi-on Mill Hill, a rise just east of Minster, was reposted "near Borstal Hall" (now Gilbert Hall
Farm; Woodthorpe 1951, 7). This feature, probably on the site of number 22, Chequers Road, was
identified as a Saxon burial mound but the attribution is dubious: it may have been a prehistoric
tumulus or a medieval windmill mound, |

2.1.3 Artefacts from Sheppey

An undated flint axe was found on the shore near Minster (NMR TQ 97 SE 6} whilst a mesolithic
flint axe or adze came from "the Thames at Queenborough" (NMR TQ 97 NW 12). A polished flint
axe of neolithic date has been recovered from the beach north east of Minster (Kelly 1988, 302) and
another from the junction of the Thames and Medway (NMR. TQ 97 NW 2). A third polished flint
axe, of uncertain date, is provenanced from Sheppey (NMR TQ 97 SE 16). A bronze age palstave
has been reported from Sheerness (Grove & Neville Terry 1949, 143-145: NMR TQ 97 NW 1) and
another from Minster (NMR TQ 97 SE 2). An important metal-wotking hoard of similar date was
recovered from Harty in 1873 (Scott Robertson 1874, 300; Payne 1893, 97, Daly 1904, 276; Clinch
1908, 322-323; NMR TR 06 NW 3) and a bronze age spear and sickle have also been recovered
from the cliffs north of Minster (Philp 1985, 12-13; .NMR TQ 97 SE 24). Pottery from the late
bronze age or early ron age and from the middle iron age has alsoe been found on Reund Hill
(immediately north east of Minzter village) snd on an SAS site in Minster itself (R Slade &
N.MacTherson Grant, pers. conun.). A fow sherds of iron age pottery and one from the early bronze
age have recently been discovered on adjacent CAT sites on Mill Hill {Pratt, in preparation). Ona
casual visit in 1993, CAT staff found a mesolithic or neolithic flint scraper and early/mid and late
iron age pottery just north east of Harty Church. During Stage 2 fieldwork, Wessex Archaeology .
recovered a:neolithic or bronze age flint scraper from north west of Wallend Cottages and a sherd
of bronze age or iron age from north west of Neats Court (Fitzpatrick & Seager Smith 1992, {3, 23-
24). Three iron age coing, one of the Kentish tribe of the Cantii and the others of the East Anglian
Trinovantes, were found by metal detectorists in or near the Eastchurch area (NMR TR 07 §W 15)
and a Gallo-Belgic coin of .55 BC was found near Warden (NMR TR 07 SW 16). An iron age coin
. of Syracuse has besn reportedt from Eastchurch {NMR TQ 97 SE 9) and another, from Mytileng, is
recorded simply s coming from Sheppey (NMR TQ 97 SE 12). A posstble correlation between pre-
Roman salt production and imported coins has been noted in Hampshire where, u s proposed, salt
may have been traded tormally or at least have served as a medium of external exchanye (Bradley
1975, 25). Though no pretustoric satt working is yet attested from either bank of the Swale. it would
- be quite reasonable to suppose that such an industry existed. An object tentatively identitied as an
iron age currency bar was found on Minster beach (Gidlow 1971, 138; NMR TQ 97 SE 19} and this

too might suggest formalised exchange activity,
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- NE .10). The implication of the three items beiny found together is that they were from a burial, ..
though this would hardly seem probable given the recorded depth (which itself suggests discovery

2.2 Roman settlement on Sheppey

2.2.1 Geneyral

In addition to Roman tiles reused in the seventh century church of Minster Abbey (NMR TQ 97 SE
1), numerous scattered finds of Roman material, including pottery, coin hoards, a quern stone,
cremations and building debris, have been made on Sheppey® The only solid Roman structure yet

dentified on the island consists of a putative limekiln at Shellness (Payne 1893, .98; Jessup 1932;.

128, NMR TR 06 NE 1)° The later Roman shoreline was probably not dissimilar to that which can
be reconstructed for the medieval period, though it is likely to have extended somewhat further into
the marshes prior to the marine transgression of the second century AD (see subsection 1.7)7

2.2.2 Neighbouring finds

Perhaps the closest Roman finds to the proposed route, all recovered by the writer, comprise a sherd
of probably local pottery (see note 19) from an embankment at the eastern end of the tidal pond
forming the current head of Queenborough Creek, two sherds of black-burnished ware from fields
just north west of the junction of Barton Hill Drive and the B2231 (at TQ 936 730 and TQ 938 917)
and a fragment of ‘egula from the Flatcreek Head saltern (see paragraph 2.3.2). In addition, Roman
cremations were found during construction of the main entrance to Sheppey Comprehensive School
(now Minster College; NMR TQ 97 SW 11). A Roman pottery industry flourished on the
neighbouring mainland, in the Upchurch Marshes, until the third century but there is as yet no
evidence that production extended onto Sheppey (Pollard 1988, 173-176). The demise of the industry

may have been caused by a rise in relative sea level (Waddelove & Waddelove 1990, 258-259, 265).
223 The Sheppey scarah

An Egyptian scarab attributed to the Ptolemaic or Roman period was reportedly recovered from
Sheppey, considerably prior to 1792, at a depth of "sixty yards", together with "a red China plate"
(i.e. a Samian piatter) and “a piece of gold coin" (Archaeologia 1808, 430, plL.XIX.6, NMR TQ 96

during well-digging or off-shote dredging). The report must be treated with considerable caution,
even though previous writers have regarded the find as one of the very few authenuc scarabs from
Roman Britain (Harris & Harris 1963 91-92; Green 1976, 58, 230). o

* For brevity, "Roman” stands for "Roman-British” throughout. Detailing all the knewn Roman
material from Sheppey, the publication of which has often been somewhat hapha.ard. hes beyond
the scope of this report,

® Identified and dated, sometime after its discovery, on the basis of its description.

7 Research based upon archaeological material has suggested that the aggreuate relative rise in
sea level in south eastern Britain during the Roman period was about 0.5 m {Waddelove &
Waddelove 1990, 265). In support of this, a hut attributed to the late iron age or early Roman period
has recently been identified on what are now tidal mudflats near Seasalter (T Allen. pers. comm.).




2.2.4 Salt-working

Briquetage, suggestive of salt production in the vicinity and associated with Roman pottery, has been
reported from Stanford Hill, near Eastchurch (Kelly et al. 1967, 291-292; Miles 1975, 26). Several
Roman salt-pans, exposed through coastal erosion, have been excavated at Funton Creek, near Iwade
(Miles 1965, 260-265; Miles 1975, 27-28: Detsicas 1984, 163-168). Whilst medieval salterns in
the north Kent marshes (Thompson 1956, passim) and Roman ones in Essex (Fawn et al. 1990,
passim) have left distinct mounds, the-Bunton Creek examples suggest that any Roman saltwnaking
on Sheppey need not have left obvious remains above ground,

2.3 The medieval period in the Sheppey Marshes
2.3.1 General

Though lost to erosion along the northern side, elsewhere much of Sheppey's early medieval (and
perkaps earlier) coastline may be approximated from cartographic and other sources. The old shore
is sometimes visible in the field as a slight rise in ground level a little below the +5 m OD contour
and corresponds roughly with the boundary between London Clay and alluvia marked upon the local
goological maps (fig.3; IGS 1974; IGS 1977).

2.3.2 Salterns

Documentary evidence from fines (Churchill, Griffin & Hardman 1956, 142, 146, 157), comparison

with excavated examples at Seasalter (Thompson 1956, passim) and sherds recovered by the writer
from a damaged mound at Flatereek Haad, just east of the study area, point towards a twelfth to mid-

thirteenth century florwdr For the selters mounds kaown locally as "cotzrells"? Theoveh 2averal tater

fines dealt with marsh and land on Sheppey, 1o mention of salt pits or of rent paid in salt post-dates
1241, Both the Seasalter and Flaicreek Head mounds appear to have stood directly upon tidal

mudflats and to have exploited the mud itself as a source of relatively concentrated brine’

Contemporary maximum high water must therefore have lain between these mounds and the +5 m

OD contour (fig.3)" The southernmost Straymarsh salterns appear to have stood farther from the
~ old shore line than maost others, suggesting that mud flats had already begun to form along the flanks
of the Old Ferry Road. Most surviving saltern mounds appear to concentrate in clusters (for

example, those west and north of Straymarsh Cottages) and it may be that these might serve as

pointers to the approximate positions of the contemporary local settlements, on the old shore. from

which they were worked.

" The medieval term "cote" or "coot” mdicates a salt works (Thompson 1936, 44n. 430 Owaen
1975, 43n; McBride 1987, 14, of placs names mentioned in Rudkin 1975, pasyim). "coterells” were
presumably "cote-" or "coter-hills".

An area of parallel laid twigs or reeds, about | sqmt. in extent, was also noted within the
Flatereek Head mound, clearly comparable to the mats found at Seasalter, which were probably
employed to provide a secure footing on the slippery mud. A small sample of this material is held
in deep-freeze at CAT offices

' Saltern mounds in late sixteenth century Lincolnshire lay between the lines of the Spring and
Neap high tides (Rudkin 1975, 37).




2.3.3 Ditches and counterwalls

inage channels often lie along, or begin at, the junction of the marsh proper and the slight
rise which marks the old coastline. Old counterwalls, erected primarily for land reclamation or flood
defence but sometimes also used as communication routes, also tend to die out at this junction,

2.3.4 Fish weirs

A general class of timber structure which might be encountered beneath the marshes consists of fish
welrs. These would tend to have been erected on tidal mud-flats and hence would probably, in this
context, be medieval or earlier in date. Large, probably medieval, fish weirs survive on the mainland
side of the eastern Swale (M. Harrison, pers.comm.).

2.3.5 Innings

Land reclamation and [lood defences in. *he eastern Swale were the responsibility of the
Commissioners of Sewers, whose records are, in this case, very patchy (Bowler 1983, 29n; KFHS
1986, passim). The corporation of Queenborough was responsible for similar work along the western
Swale (KFHS 1985, Introduction) and the relevant records, included in the municipal papers, would
also appear to be rather haphazard. The Calendar of Patent Rolls includes ten commissions "de
walljis et fossatis" (i.e. for construction or repair of counterwalls and dykes) for Sheppey, all within
the period 1377-1478 (McBride 1987, fig.1), though at least one of these was probably concerned
with repairing the Old Ferry Road rather than flood defences (see paragraph 3.3.2). One of the
earliest overall maps of Sheppey, Elizabethan in date, is concerned chiefly with land tenure but shows
a pair of "Old Bulwarks" (fiz.5, BM Cat, I844, 100 (Cotton MSS, AugLi, 51): reprodused
Oppenheim 1926, fucing 306)'Y theugh  thase probably  represent ecarlisr Forts rather +han
counterwalls."? Though a tantative satluonce nas veen proposed for the counterwalls arcund Elmlay
(McBride 1987, 15, 16, map 4, fig. 1), etailed ficldwork and primary documentary research, beyond
the scope of this report, would be required to elucidate the history of the medieval and post-medieval
mning of the Sheppey marshes, but paleo-environmental and pedological research could provide
useful indications. - ' :

"' This may have been drawn up 1o accompany the survey commissioned of Lord Cobham, Sir
Edward Hoby and others in 1585 or that by Hoby in the previous year (BM Cat. Add. 1925, no 38823
(18)). ‘

" There was a blockhouse at Sheerness by 1547 {Oppenheim 1926, 284; Colvin er a/ 1985,
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3 SITE SPECIFIC ARCHAEOLOGY AND HISTORY
3.1 King's Ferry
3.1.1 Tremhethe on Capel Fleet

There has been some confusion regarding the location of "Tremhethe" (with variants), an Old English
name indicating a timber landing place (Wallenberg'1934, 391): as this:bears upon the history of
Kingsferry, it is proper to include an explanatory note. The name appears in documents as early as
1240 and an Assize of 1292 refers to a "pons de Thremheth(e) int’ insulas de Scapeya & Herteya"
(Wallenberg 1934, 251). This bridge was destroyed during a storm or flood and replaced by a ferry
(Hughes 1994, 6). Evidence discussed above (paragraphs 2.3.1-3) suggests that Capel Fleet,
separating Harly from the Minster/Leysdown hills, was between one and one and a half kilometres
in width in the twelfth to thirteenth centuries. It is difficult to interpret the Assize document in any
way other than as referring to a bridege and/or causeway (pethaps interrupted by a short ferry
crossing) traversing this channel, thouzh it is possible that other thirteenth century occurronces of the
name could refer to the Swale crossing from Twade.

3.1.2 Trinkide on the Swale

A ferry, which would appear to be that at Kingsferry, is referred to in the accounts of Edward ITT 1n
the 1360s (Allen Brown, Colvin & Taylor 1963, 800 Judge, 1992, 494). In 1401, Henry IV granted
the right to levy a "Ferry Cess” in order to maintain both ferry and road (Judge 1992, 394). The
earliest surviving written account of the Ferry Court, which sat at Kingsborough in 1546, refers to
"Trinhide Ferry" whilst the next records it as "Trinhide, alias the King's Ferry", the earliest known
use of the latter term (Judge 1983 30:  ludye 1992, 495.497). The Farry Conrt continned to
admuister the affairs of "the King's Fariv™ up lo 1857, alter which contro! of the crossing passed to:
the Sittingbourne and Sheerness Raitway Company (Judge 1980, 297) although the ferry was still
employed until the first [ift-bridge, wrected in 1859-60, was opened to road-traffic in 1862
(frontispiece; Judge 1983, 31; Judge 1987, 433-454), Published documentary sources would thus
seen) to support the view that two separate crossings were, perhaps at different times, referred to with
identical or very similar names, probably with the same etymology (which suggests origins for both
tn the Saxon period or earlier) ‘

® “Saxon" stands for "Anglo-Saxon or Jutish” throughout.




3.2 Ferry house

In 1367 John Roseacre, who worked on the building of Queenborough Castle, contracted to erect a
ferryman's house (Allen Brown, Colvin & Taylor 1963, 800), presumably at Trinhide. It is not
certain which side of the Swale this was built. :

3.2.2 Early post-medieval period

A plan of Sheppey drawn up around 1572 by "IM." shows a building marked "Kings ferre" on the
Sheppey bank and a row-boat in the Swale (fiz.4; PRO Cat, 1967, no 1291 = MPF 240; reproduced
Harvey 1993, plII), Another Elizabethan map of Sheppey marks "Kyngsfery" with a small circle,
also on the island bank (fig.5; British Museum, Cotton MSS, Augli, 51; reproduced Oppenheim
1926, facing 306). A Ferry Court Order of 1596 instructed the warden "to make survey of the ferre
howse and lands belonging *o the ferre on thisside" and to "tryme and dressc the botes and fferre
- howse on this side’ (Woodruff & Woodruff 1902, 292). As the Court sat at Kingsborough, near
Minster, "thisside" clearly refers to the Sheppey bank, However, it is curious that any need was felt
to make such a specification and the Warden or Ferrymen may have maintained another building on
the mainland bank, perhaps unofficially and for their own convenjence '* .

" That a ferryman lived on the mainland shore i implied in Act IV, Scene 2 of the disputed

play "Arden of Feversham", based on an actual murder case and first published in 1592 (Bullen 1887,
70). However, this was a dramatic necessity for an encounter in the following scene and should
obviously not be taken as firm evidence. The crossing from Harty to Qare on the mainland was
probably manned by two ferrymen in the nineteenth century, one living on each side (McBride 1987,
36, table 4): a similar situation may have obtained at the King's Ferry.




3.2.3 Later post-medieval period

A two inch to one mile eighteenth century map (fig.9; Andrews, Dury & Herbert 1769, sheet 8)

shows one building at the mainland end of the ferry, on the south east side of the road, and another
in a small enclosure on the Sheppey bank on the opposite side of the road. A smaller scale map of
the Hundreds of Teynham and Middleton, which shows the same arrangement, is probably based
upon the earlier survey (fig.10; Hasted 1798, facing p-308). A small stone house is recorded as
standing on the mainland side of the crossing, on thesite where one George Fox put up a shelter
whilst waiting overnight for the ferry (Hasted 1798, 210 Turmine 1843, 4). Though rather
wdistinct, Mudge's 1801 one inch survey of Kent, generally regarded as the first Ordnance Survey
map (OS 1801 hereafter; fig.11), appears to show a small building on the north western side of the
road on the Sheppey bank of the Swale and nothing on the mainland bank. The somewhat clearer

1819 one inch Ordnance Survey (OS 1819 hereafter; fig.12) repeats the information of the 1769 map
and adds one or two buildings in another enclosure on the mainland bank, north west of the road and
marked as "Ho.". An 1879 electrotype edition of this map (reproduced, undated, i Hull 1980, map

13) expands this lakcl to "Ferry ouse". In 1843 there was, on the Shzppey side of the erossing "a
house licenced as a victualling house, in which the ferry-keeper resides: the house upon the opposite
side [was] a victualling house called the 'Lord Nelson™ (Turmine 1843, 4). In 1847 it was reported
that "King's Ferry is crossed by means of a cable 140 fathoms long......two of the men live on [the
Iwade] side of the water to assist in working the boats" (Bagshaw 1847, 521)% The Lord Nelson

was demolishéd when the current bridge was built (Judge 1980, 297). The site of the building shown

on the Sheppey bank on the eighteenth and nineteenth century maps appears likely to have been the

site of the ferry house in the sixteenth century also and probably lies beneath the current road: its

enclosure would not appear to extend as far north as the proposed route,

33 O Ferry Road
330 Origing

Place-name evidence (Iwade, Trinhide and, perhaps; Cowstead)" suguests a Saxon or earlier date for
the original road onto Sheppey, which may itself have. rested on an earlier (prehistoric?) tumber
trackway. The nuns of Minster Abbey (founded ¢.675 AD) would aimost certainly have required a
reasonable route to the mainland and, at least initially {whilst enjoying royal patronage), would have
had the means to build or maintain one,

" The entry continues: "The Dart vessel Coast Guard Station is situated here"  This would

refer to one of the Coast Guard Cutters which, alongside the Coast Watch and Coast Riders, guarded
against both would-be invaders and smugglers  the iatter were probably the principal concern in the
Swale at this date (R.Larr, pers.comm ).

1

Meaning, respectively, "crossing-place” (Wallenbery 1931, 257), "timber landing-place”
(Watlenberg 1934, 391} and "rounded-" or "swelling-place" (wp.cit, 231, 236). However, Wallenbery
suggests that Cowstead on Sheppey may be an inherited manorial name rather than based upon local
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3.3.2 Medieval history

In the 1360's, Edward III ordered the widening of the existing four foot wide trackway from the ferry
to "Cothelles" to thirty foot (Judge 1992, 494) and had a house built for the ferry's "janitor" (see
paragraph 3.2.1). The road would have been embanked and perhaps flanked by one or two ditches!”

As noted above, in 1401 Henry IV granted the right to levy ferry tolls, part of which went to

maintaining the road, which was repaired or further improved "from Tremcodferye to Cothelles” in
1402 (McBride 1987, fig.1) and 1406 (Tyler-1994, 55); the work of 1406 may have been rendered
necessary by widespread flooding in 1404 (McBride,. loc.cit).

3.3.3 Line of the road

A counterwall running paiallel to part of Old Ferry Read, on its north western side, probably
represents the medieval(?) inning of Neatscourt Marshes and appears to define the farther side of an
old creek.” With the unlikely exception of this embankment, the line of the Saxon or medieval road
can hardly 5o other than that of Old Forry Road. This, replaced by the A249 when the current bridge
was built ¢.1960, meandered across the marsh from Kingsferry to the coterclls (.., "Cotehelles")
near Straymarsh Cottages.”” The sinuous line adopted may have followed the side of the early creek
or have wound from one slightly higher spot to another in the marshes or mud-flats which it crossed,
the creek then forming alongside it.

3.4 Kingsferry to Straymarsh Cottages/Wallend -
3.4.1 Late Saxon period military engagement
Ecrawnd's army fought that of Canute and pursusd it ante Sheppey 0 1616 (Carmonzvway 1672, 151).

The precise position of this action is not known but the vicinity of the old road would be a logical
area in which to expect to find any material lost during the pursuit, :

'" The road was sometimes referred to as the Ferry Wall (Judge 1980, 296),
" The south western end of this earthwork appears o have been obliterated by the current road's
consrruction around 960,

" And thence on slightly higher ground to the tellingly tuuned Wallend Farm, A small-scale
cighteenth(”) century map (fig.8; Judge 1990, 1621, a survey of similar date {fig.9, Andrews, Dury
& Herbert 1769, sheet 8) and OS 1801 (fig.11) show that the route continued on along the hine of
Bartou's Hill Drive, over Rape Hill to. Minster. Accordme o OS 1801, there was also a track
running almost directly from Cowstead Corner to Elmicy. The most northerly part of this route
would appear to lie beneath the current road. Trs central porticn is shown as continuing sowuth,
passing east of the site of Straymarsh Cottages, to rejoin the existing bridlepath to Elmley at TQ 933
599 Fizld drainage patterns are not consistent with this part of the route and there is no visible
surface evidence for it. In contrast, the map of 1769 shows the central section following the
bridlepalh immediately south of Straymarsh Uottages and iy probably, in this case, more reliable.
Neither the 1769 map nor OS 1801 are entirely accurate however. Fer instance both maps label
buildings along Wards Hill as "Minster Abbey" whereas the Abbey had been sited in the middle of
Minster village, a fact which was certainly common knowledge. ' : | |




3.4.2 Salterns

In addition to the possible presence of unobtrusive prehistoric or Roman (see paragraphs 2.1.3 and
2.2.4) or of razed medieval examples, this stretch of the proposed route impinges upon two medieval
saltern mounds (Fitzpatrick & Seager Smith 1992, fig 2, cat.nos. IQ 11/100 & IQ 11/101; NMR TQ
97 8W 7). One of these (IQ 11/101) extends about 5 m into the easement, the other (IQ 11/100) lies
a similar distance outside of it.

3.4.3 Fossilised creek

This stretch of the proposed route obliquely crosses the probable site of an old creek bounded on one
side by the Old Ferry Road and on the other by a parallel counterwall. The creek may pre-date the
road or have formed as a result of changes in the drainage pattern resulting from the causeway's
construction. In the latter case, earlier archaeological deposits may well have been eroded away from
its bed. The creek itself is now represented only by a small ditch, generally artificiatly regularised
(;robably in the modern era). :

3.4.4 Other drainage channels

Where the counterwalls meet the slight rise up to Cowstead Corner, the edge of the marsh is marked
by a sinuous east-west ditch. This may have originated with the inning of the marshes but it will
have been subject to constant recutting until the modern-day. Other existing ditches crossed by this
stretch of the proposed route all appear to be modem in origin. Lost late medieval or post-medieval
drainage ditches might be encountered elsewhere along this section. ‘
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3.5.1 Topography

This area consists largely of a fairly leve! outcrop of London Clay, straddling the +5 m OD contour,
separating Neats Court Marshes and Cheyney Marshes. An old shore line can be made out, flanked .
by salterns on its seaward margin and with a slight embayment on the western side. A geological
survey suggests that there may have been a small inlet just south of Neats Court (IGS 1977). Part
of the Old Ferry Road runs roughly along the eastern margin of the promontory and a perfectly
straight public footpath along its spine. OS 1801 shows a spur of the old road running to Cowstead
Farey, more or fess on the line of the current road, but does not show the footpath, which does
appear huwever on an Ordnance Survey map of 1869 (0S 1869 hereatier: fig. 13}). The old shore
fine mayv represent Late Pleistocene or early Holocene land surfaces (Barham, Bates & Whittaker
1991, 8, 13).




3.3.2 Possible medieval site

A casual visit by CAT staff in 1991, after the field ‘was freshly ploughed, revealed the presence of
probably thirteenth century material in the south eastern part of plot 30 and of post-medieval(?)
pegtiles in its north western part. Only two sherds of pottery were found but it should be borne in

‘mind that no systematic field-walking was undertaken. The quantity involved is not inconsistent with

nightsoil being spread on the field but it is possible that there may have been a medieval homestead
between Wallend and Neats Court. This location, close to the Sheppey end of the causeway across
the marshes, is one which may well have attracted occupation in any period. Such a settlement,
rather than Wallend, might have been the focus for working the Straymarsh cluster of salterns. The
relevant plots were not subject to detailed fieldwalking as part of Wessex Archaeology's Stage II
work as they were then (and remain) under pasture.

3.5.3 Neats Court

In the late fourteenth century John of Gaunt acquired Neats Court (possibly the original chef lizu of
Rushenden Manor), which passed on to his son Bolingbroke, later Henry IV (Tyler 1994, 7). The
manor of Neats Court formed part of Charles I's dower to Henrictta Maria and was leased to Sir
Edward Hales after the Civil War (Daly 1904, 196-197; Tyler 1994, 11). The Duke of York stayed
there whilst inspecting Sheerness Dockyard in 1669 and perhaps again, as James II, whilst waiting
to take ship to France from Elmley during his first bid to flee the country in 1688 (Tyler 1994, 13-
13). The manor remains part of the Crown Estates, Subsidiary structures associated with the
medieval and post-medieval site of Neats Court may be expected in the area south of the current
road, though these are unlikely to be of major archaeological significance. Various plans of the then
extant and proposed new buildings at Neats Court and of the estate woere prepared in 1776 (PRO Cat.
P957, nos 12321235, esp. 1234). A lare ninetoonth setury Drdnmice Toreew (26 1807 Foci
fig. 14} indicates the presence of a rectangular enclosure on the line of the proposed route, lacking
in earlier plans (figs 7 & 13; PRO Cat. 1967, no 1234 = MPE 369, 0S8 1869). A sheepfold
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- (Fitzpatrick & Seager Smith 1992, fig.2, cat.no. IQ 8), first marked on OS 1869 and probably late

eighteenth or early-mid nineteenth century in date, still survives about 150 m south of Neats Court.
3.3.4 Modern carthworks

A very regular earthen embankment running south from the current road opposite Neats Court does
not appear on any ()5 plans consulted up to 1974, nor do any field boundaries respect it. [t is clearly

‘modern, associvted with the imported-car depot into which it runs. A :mall corner of a field wsolated

by this earthwork has a corrugated surface due to modern workiny,
3.3.5 Ihnaineve channef
A shghtly sinuous ditch runs south from the Neats Court sheep wash and sheep fold (Fitzpatrick &

Seager Smith 1992, fig 2, cat.no.1Q 8) along the small inlet noted abovs (paragraph 3.5.1), This may
have been natural in origin but has probably been subject to frequent recutting until the modern-day.




3.6 Neats Court to Old Counterwall South of Queenborough Roundabout
3.6,1 Topography

West of Neats Court, the old shoreline approaches almost to the modern (and probably ancient) road
in a slight embayment There is, however, a margin up to about 50 m wide sloping very gently down
from the current road to the level of the marsh. The western limit of this area is marked by a zig-
zagging embankment {see paragraph 3.7.1). The main proposed route:here lies entirely within the
low-lying marshland.

3.6.2 Drairnage channels

Tlus stretch of the proposed route crosses two drainage ditches, running roughly north east to south
west. The more easterly is slightly sinuous and, though probably often re-cut, may be of some
antiquity, the other is straight and, like the east-west ditch which it mects, is likely to be relatively
recent. Lost late medieval or post-medieval drainage ditches might be encountered elsewhere along
this section.

3.7 Old Counterwall South of Queenbhorough Roundabout to Brielle Way
3.7.1 Earthworks

A considerable earthen embankment zig-zags west fram the current A249, cventually forming the
southern bank of Queenborough Creek. A roughly parallel stretch of counterwall is shown on OS
1869 and OF 1898 (figs 13 & 14), forming part of the creek's northern bank to the west. The latter
eacthwork 1s sow largely obscured by Timdseaping but » shert erass- ool connacting 115 eastern
terminal with the southern bank still forms the easternmost limit of the tidal ponds which lie in that
part of the earlier creek cut off by the construction of the railway ¢ 1859 A marked deviation in
the line of the southern wall immediately west of this junction suggests the deliberate widening of
the tidel .area or an echo of a natural meander but it is possible that the castern part of ‘the
counterwall origraally turned slightly to run on to Rushenden and thar tha westen part 15-& later
addition to contain the creek. An estate plan of 1776 indicates a field boundary which follows
precisely the line of the southern counterwall from just west of the widening to a little short of the
current A249, indicating that this portion of the wall was already in place at that time (fig. 7. PRO
Cat, 1967, no 1234 = MPE 369). However, the very eastern extremity of the wall, on the sloping
ancient shore rather than the marsh, is lighter in construction and is not marked on the early
Ordnance Sutveys.  This part coincides with a modern property boundary and may be twentieth
century in dare 05 1869 and OS 1898 (figs 13 & 14) show the presence of mwo large mounds, no
longer reactly discernible, just west of a ditch running north from the cross-wall and perhaps
representing imedieval saltern mounds.

* n 1993, during a field visit arranged with Mott Macdonald, the writer recovered an abraded
sherd of Roman pottery (second or third century, probably a local sandy ware) from the junction
between the southern wall and the cross-wall, though this is clearly residual.




3.7.2 Ancient creek head

The land east of the cross-wall (bounded by the southern counterwall, Main Road and the old coast
line just west of the A249) is currently marshland. This area lies much lower than the tidal reach
and at least part must have been inundated prior to the cross-wall's construction. The area must
contain the ancient creek head which, given its proximity to the Saxon and medieval sites at
Queenborough, may have served as a harbour. However, a bore-hole showing silts here at depths
“of 16 m is:probably to be explained by an overall sudden drop. in the London Clay in the vicinity
of Queenborough, attributed to the presence of an ancient branch of the Medway Estuary (see
subsection 1.7). Two maps drawn up in the 1770s indicate that the creek then extended beyond the
site of the cross-wall (see following paragraph). One of these maps (fig.6; Hull 1973, 125 (CKS
U38 03)) shows the creek as overflowing its northern bank immediately upstream of the constriction
where the Queenborough-Rushenden road crossed the waterway. This constriction would certainly -
have rendered navigation further upstream impracticable and it is tempting to identify it as the site
of the tidal mill constructed in the fourteenth century, though other possible sites are noted elsewhere
in this report.™

3.7.3 Extant drainage channels in the creek head

A slightly crooked ditch runs north of and parallel to the southern counterwall. Its eastern end runs

into another ditch, at the junction of the London Clay and alluvia, which runs south east from Barre's

Gate (see paragraph 3.7.6). A third ditch runs between the cross-wall and Buarre's Gate. The first
ditch runs into the third close to the cioss-wall, The municipal boundaiy, fixed by Edward 1I's
charter, is shown on 08 1869 and OS 1898 (figs 13 & 14) as running along the second ditch, then
turning 1o follow the first and the southern end of the third and thence seawards alane-the centre of
the main channel of the crzcle That the houndary followed the first direl raier thean the eounterwall

suggests that either the counterwall post-dates the original charter or the walerway was more
prominent in the fourteenth century, The third ditch appears as a boundary of Queenborough Green

on a survey of 1773 by Francis Baker (fig.6; Hull 1973, 125 (CKS U38 03)). An estate map of
- 1776 shows the first ditch, serving as » field boundary, whilst the south western part of the third was

much wider and clearly <Gl part of the creek: the north eastern Hmit was not shown (fig.7, FRO

Cat. 1967, no 1234 = MPE 369). The first and third ditches probably now represent all that is left
of the landward end of the creek whose full extent, it must be emphasised, is as vet unknown, The

new junction will affect the northern ends of the second and third ditches whilst the proposed road

will cut across the first and much of the intervening land.

374 Ol shore fine

The old shore tinz forins the north eastern boundary of the low lying area representing the old creek
head. In addition to the possible presence of associated features above it Lute Pleiswocene or early
Holocene tand surfaces inicht survive here (Barham, Bates & Whittaker 1991, 5. 13 see paragraph
211 |

" From 1362, Fdward 11I's accounts refer to a new water mill, near to the castle, at which ships
unloaded cargoes of wool (Allen Brown, Colvin & Taylor 1963, 794n). Such a mill here would, of
necessity, have been tidal and may have utilised either an entirely artificial retention pool or a dam
or weir across the creek. ‘




3.7.5 Main Road

Edward III granted right of access along "the causeway which leads to the castle” to the Prioress of
Minster Abbey (see paragraph 3.8.5). The castle was circular, with a sally port diametrically opposed
to the main gate (see paragraph 3.8.2). The centre of the castle can be located by its central well, -
now capped, on Castle Green. Its orientation is uncertain but, given that the town itself was
refounded by Edward III, the main entrance is likely to have faced down High Street® This road
lies..cn relatively high ground and would hardly merit the term "causeway", which must therefore
have lead across the marshy ground from Barrows and Doos Hills to the eastern or south eastern
sally port. The likeliest route for this causeway, which may well be Saxon rather than medieval in
origin, would run roughly along the current road between the town and Queenborough roundabout
and would thus be affected by the proposed new roundabout?

3.7.6 Barre's Gate

08 1869 and, mere particularly, OS 1898 show a huddle of small structures straddling the road to
Queenborough just west of the current roundabout at the foot of Barrows Hill (figs 13 & 14). Itis
labelled as Barrows Gate and stands at the junction between the marsh and the old shore,
corresponding to the municipal boundary, An early transcript of Queenborough's original charter
gives the name as Batre's Gate, which is listed as one of the borough's limits (Woodruff 1897, 172).
"bar”, like "gate", might indicate some form of toll or other control on traffic and thus help explain
a clavse 1o a grant by Edward 11t the Priorzsz of Minster Abbuy (see parsgraph 3.8.5). 1 instead,
"bar' derlves from Old English surk, which would in this case sefer to a Saxon foralienticn, or from -

beorg ("barrow" or "hill"; Wallenberg 1934, 467), then "gate" should also be taken in its Old

English sznze of "way". Shlier of thane interpretitions would strengthen the arsim o000 the eyrront
read Tyimg on U Lol cndaeay and Ui seresd waldld reinfaice e s tora Do predanesgen

to the fourteenth century castle. Further documentaty research, especially into the municipal records,
might clarify the situation here. The preferred new route would affect much or all of this medieval
or earlier site.

* The moat was still extant in 1773 and a map of istingt widening

o
immediately opposita the proposed position of the main gate, facing down High Strees (fig 6, Hull

1973, 125 (CKS (/38 O3},
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* However. a broad lynchet-like feature may be seen running along the eastern side of Doos Hill
whilst 05 1809 aud O3 1598 show an "Old Counterwall" {later largely obliterated by the line of the
Sheppey Light Railway) running NE-SW about 200 m north east of the castle. Either of these might
instead represent the early causeway but are far less probable candidates {(indeed, the fLirst may
represent one bank of an inlet from the old shore line).
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3.7.7 Barre's Gate to Brielle Way
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h of the proposed route crosses marsh land. As elsewhere in the marshes,

timber structures may be preserved here. The proposed route crosses a ditch, shown on the survey
of 1773 (fig.6; Hull 1973, 125 (CKS U38 03)) and marked as a borough boundary on OS 1869 and
0S8 1898 (figs 13 & 14), running north east from Barre's Gate to the foot of Doos Hill. This ditch
might represent a very early extension of the creek, separating Queenborough from the
Minster/Leysdown hills, which would have-hern cut off when the embankment beneath Main Reord
was erected.

3.8 Sites neighbouring Queenborough Creek
3.8.1 Medieval Queenborough

Edward IIT expunged a hamlet, probably of Saxon origin, named Bynne and, in its stead, founded
the town of Queenborough (Burgus Reginae) on the 10th May, 1368 (Woodruff 1897, 170-2)* The
last new town founded in England until the early seventeenth century (Beresford 1967, 457) it was
probably intended to attract the level of population required, as militia (Whitchead 1974, 104), to
supplement the garrison of the new castle, also built by Edward, in case of attack. Building work

- on the town pre-dated the charter however and the accounts were included with those of the castle

from 1366 onward. By 1342 work hed beuiy on g new mill, propre caviruny aod josio costrig,
Y & i J

which zhips unloaded cigees of veoul One documen refers to it 2s o witter nit (A Brawrn,

Colvin & Taylor 1963, 7940), presuaally worked by tidal powse. In July 1342 Queenborough
replaced Sandwich both as the staple wool pert for all the coast from Winchalsen to Thavesend znd
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boundaries still reflect the lines of the fourteenth century settlement, but the only standing medieval
structure to survive 1s the church (built 1366-1367), originally of St James, but rededicated to the
Holy Trinity in the fifteenth century (Hughes 1991, 551).

' .
. prpt e e
syoebiata IJ.(.l.J\.,.\,)'

“ The earlier name muy derive from Old English dyn which can be interpreted as "soma sort
of swelling of the ground" (Wallenbery 1931, 348). A variant of the name appears in 2 lite sleventh
century rental known as the Conswerudines de Newenton, which refers to "twentv erght weys of
cheese from Sheppey and Ainmen ¢a” (Du Boulay 1966, 176). like "-ey", the second element
indicates an island (see note {).

»®  Queenborough was the only new foundation between Bala (1310) and Falmouth (1613;

Beresford 1959, 212).




3.8,2' Queenborough Castle
The design of Queenborough Castle (NMR TQ 97 SW 1), described as "so advanced as to be unique"
(Allen Brown 1954, 93), has attracted the admiration of at least one modem professional muilitary
engineer (Whitehead 1974, 104). The concentric plan "was almost the earliest example of the fort,
i the modern sense" (Clapham 1913, 274). The moated outer wall was pierced by a main gate,
flanked by towers, to the west and by a small, diametrically opposed, postern. The castle's centre
is.still marked by its well, surviving 'mder a concrete capping on Castle Green, butats orientation
is uncertain. The main gate probably faced the junction between High Street and North Road but
it may instead have been aligned on either of two short streets leading down to the creek. The
survey of 1773 (fig.6, Hull 1973, 125 (CKS U38 03)) supports an alignment on the High Street in
so far as it indicates a distinct widening of the moat in this direction. The castle was built on land
acquired from the Manor of Rushenden in August 1361 (Beresford 1967, 458) but the work force was
being recruited as early as February of that year. It was provided ostensibly "for the defense of the
realm and for the refuge of the inhabitants of the island" (Daly 1904, 85; cf. Lambarde 1570, 227).
-tlowever, it is possible that this isolated castle may also have been intended as a royal refuge from
any repetition of the Great Plague of 1346-8 At least two houses were demolished to make way
for the castle and the occupants rechouged (Beresford 1967, 459). The king wag probably present at
the commencement of work, which eventually cost over £25,000, about half (e amount spent on
Windsor, itself the most expensive single royal medieval building project in England (Atlen Prown,
Colvin & Taylor 1063, 162-1€3). As (he relevance of the Swale &0 4 shipping routs waied, £0 ton
didd the nvuportance of the castle until it wae decinred nboelete by the Parljamectooy Ooinopiiinrers
in 1630 (PRO Surv., 52) and rinhis to at least part of its febric sold by the town mayer {Milne 1295,
174). Tt was demalizhed shortly theesefar and its loss was sorely felt whan the Duich ook Thieppey
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put it into the charge of the Corporation of Queenborough.  With the advent of the railway, the
easternmost limit of the castle's outer circuit was overlain by the line to Sheerness, a second well was
sunk next to the original and a well house, now demolished, was erected by the railway company in

oo )

about 1868 (Kelly 1938, 606

[ )

e

* The pestis ecundu appeared at Florence in 1359 and reached Poland the followtng year

{Creichton 1984, 203): in May 1561 it resulted in the demise of "a great multttuds” in London
(Shrewsbury 1971, 128). Perhaps of more immediate concern to the king, Henry, Duke of Lancaster
(his own cousin and John of Gaunt's father-in-law), had already been similarlv struck down at
Leicester in March (Creichton, /oc cit). 1t may also be significant that Queenborough Castle was
unusval in being a royal commission: medieval fortifications were more frequently erecied by private
individuals or corporations (Saunders 1970, 201} If the castle was indeed intended as a refuge, its
position would have been exceptionaliy well suited 1o the role, on an isle within an isle and a simple
boat ride from the capital, with no need to touch shore until virtually at the gare. Edward I was
a frequent visitor to Queenborough, woing as far as to appoint a Keeper of the Privy Wardrobe there
(Allen Brown, Colvin & Taylor 1963, 693). Finally, whatever the building's original purpose, Henry
1V stayed at Queenborough during an outbreak of the plague at London in 1406 { Tyler 1994, 59),




3.8.3 Enclosures

1 acdition to the castle and to 2 small, irregularly planned "camp" excavated by KARU and noted
in the Wessex report (Cherry 1978, 181; Fitzpatrick & Seager Smith 1992, fig.2, ¢at.no.1Q 3;: NMR
TQ 97 SW 2), a large rectilinear earthwork, over 250 ft by 350 ft, lay a little north of a bend in the
creek, under the modern housing along Gordon Street and Harold Street. The banks which formed
it are marked on OS 1869 (though it had disappeared by the time of OS 1898) and a measured sketch
plan of the already destroyed earthwork, together with that of the smaller Yeamp" and the site of
Queenborough Castle, has been published (Chalkley Gould 1908, 409). The dates of both earthworks
are uncleat, though the location of the smaller off the old shoreline and the discovery of masonry
footings within suggest a mid thirteenth century or later date. The plan of the larger structure might
suggest a Roman or late Saxon fort or a Viking” camp but a medieval "industrial" role appears more
probable, Since 1904, various local historians have written of a Saxon precursor to Queenborough
Castle but without presenting any evidence for such a site.

additinn ta th +
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3.8.4 Possible funciions of the rectilinecr carthwork.

In the case of a military function, the position of the larger earthwork, on the low-1ying fandward side
of the slight rise on which Queenborough stands is directly comparable to that of the fourteenth
century royal castle. Such a position, ruther than on the relatively commanding heights of Ruslienden
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P The Vikings first over-wintered on Sheppey in 855 AD (corrected date, Garmonswayv 1972,
66-67). They would probably have souchr sheltered waters with a shallow sloping shore to draw up
their ships. The best candidates for such g site are Capel Fleet, Windmill Creek and Queenborough
Creek. However, slightly less shettered coastal sites such as the embayment near Neats Court cannot
be excluded. Milton was fortified by Haestan the Dane in 892 (op.cit., 84-85). Miiton and Sheppey
were raided by Earl Godwin and Harold in 10352 (ap.cir, 180). Fortification of Queenborough might
be expected around any of these dates.

® The oyster industry formed the mainstay of Queenborough's economy from at least the

medieval period into the nineteenth century,




3.8.5 Medieval evidence for water catchment

Although some spring water was available in the north eastern part of Sheppey, fresh water was
generally in short supply (Hasted 1798, 209; Studt 1991, 2). Therefore, in 1361, Edward I1I ordered
that "In a place called Bynne rainwater falls and is received by the Swale. Licence is granted for
the priotess to make four dykes, furrows or baulks with a plough, the width 3 feet 20 poles round
the well for the water to run in. The water may be carried by ships' boats, carts, horses efc. and they
may come and go-as they please by the causeway which leads to the castle” (Judge 1983, 55: ef
Tyler 1994, 53 and Studt 1991, 2). The meaning of the second sentence is rather obscure but may
refer to some form of water catchment, The 20 poles mentioned in the document equate to a little
over 100 m whereas the castle well, at the centre of the small inner court, lay over 200 m from both
the earthworks.® Prior to the well's construction, the inhabitants of Queenborough had drawn their
water from a pool near the castle (possibly artificial, site unknown) known as Foxlegore, after the
castle's first Constable, Foxle (Favresfeld 1913, 153). The need for the well was highlighted when
flooding contaminated the pool with salt water in 1376 (Allen Brown, Colvin & Taylar 1963, 799}

3.8.6 Sevenieenth century evidence for water catchment

The Queenberough Chamberlain's accounts for 1653 include the following entries {Woodruff 1897,
177):

£s d
vo Ve Tor i bl N
CoodursEltvgg Ut SeRIE o0
boolorinakeing oowederside plies wl die
i R TP PRSP UOSO

FOF Gledning e wen it ieading e Goone
of yebucket..................... . 116 0
For ¢cleaning the pond................occo oo 415 0
To John Siborne for arope....................c 216 0
To Smith for his work about the bucketts ... 113 0

The payments would appear to relate to a general programme of work following the demolition of
the castle and the well's acquisition by the Mayor and Burgesses, Whilst the pond(s) to which
reference is made may have held salt water, the context clearly implies that they were for fresh water.

* The earliest recorded work on the castle well dates to 1365 (Allen Brown, Colvin & Taylor
1965, 797), though its site was probably determined at the commencement of bulding work in 1361,




3.8.7 Other fedtures

0S8 186 h east of the rectilinear earthwork™
- The three more westerly are water filled whilst the sasternmost is shown as marsh. The western pair
are in the form of two very rough, elongated ovals, the eastern of opposed crescents or sigmoids.
The long axes of all four lie parallel to each other and orthogonal to the ereek, Though possible
interpretations for the two oval features would include harbour installations, oyster ponds, salterns
and tidal.mill ponds, the crescents give the distinct impression of being formed from an "ox-bow
lake", caused by the isolation of a former meander in the course of the creek (similar meanders still
survive m a narrow "fleet" north of Queenborough). A survey of 1773 shows several inlets into this
area from the creek (fig.6; Hull 1973, 125 (CKS U38 03)), suggesting that the northern counterwall
had not yet been built. The construction of this wall would have forced the creek, and hence the
civiec boundary, into a more southerly route, effectively increasing the land area claimable by the
borough.
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shows a set of four large irregular features just sout

3.8.8 Summary of archavological potential of Queenborough Creek

Overall then, there is evidence for a complex and evolving historical landscape from the mouth of
Queenhorough Cresk to the present joundebour,  Theough no prehistoric materia! has yer been
idzntified from them it 1s quite likely that Rushenden and/or Queenborougl were cocupied from at
least the bronze age. In this case woodan tracks may have been used to reach the respective rises
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The creek was finally fully canalised in the late eighteenth or early nineteenth century up to the
cross-wall, which must have been built at the same time. A large earthwork just oumtside the study
area may have been military in origin and might indicate Viking or late Saxon defence of the inlet
or it may mark a medieval "industrial” site. At least two of four laree sunken features, also just
outside the area, were probably meanders cut off by the canalization whilst the others may have a
similar origin or represent harbour or "industrial” installations, probably of medieval or early post-
medieval date. Two mounds, one outside and one on the margin of the area, may have been
medieval salterns or remnants of a counterwall

3.9 Summary of findings and scientific value of sites

"

3.9 0 Imtroduction

[t s difficult to assess @ priord the importance or value of archaeological sites. Not only does much
depend upon the precise date, nature and state of proservation of each site but other aspects, such as
the degree to which a given site's relationships (both synchronous and diachronous) to others and to
associated landscapes and envitonments mav be established. must be consideted. The following
observations should thus be taken as indicative only and the significance of any individual sites
encountered may well reguire re-assessment as more data become available.

* Modern ilandscaping has obscured these features.




L

3.9.2 General

Recent studies have highlighted the archaeological potential of Sheppey and of the North Kent
Marshes in general and have emphasised the strategic and economic importance of paleo-
environmental evidence. The study area lies mostly within a shallow basin, with a complex Holocene
infill, between the Minster/Leysdown hills and the mainland and bounded by a paleo-channel of the
Medway to the north west. Wherever the proposed route crosses marshland it may 1mpinge upon

such a find at any given position is low. Timber quays might be encountered on the banks of the
Swale or, less probably, in the fossilized head of Queenborough Creek. The various counterwalls,
especially those carrying Old Ferry Road and Main Road, may have been preceded by timber
trackways. Wooden medieval or earlier fish-weirs might be found anywhere beneath the marsh. The
ftnding of an early boat, quay or track would certainly be regionally important and, depending upon

age, type and degree of preservation, may prove of national or international significance. Fish weirs, ‘

uriless very early, would probably be of lesser importance.

3.9.3 The prehistoric period on Sheppey

Relatively faow prehistorio finds huve beun wnnfs oo Chegnay bul they are sufficical, wueliar with
arsessuients of the economic potentin] of the paleo-topouraphy and paleo-srviconment aad
comparison with neighbouring mainland sites, to suggest that higher eround at least was settled
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upper palaeolithic and mesolithic land surfaces may survive on their northern margin. It is- possible
that there may have been a salt industry on Sheppey during the iron age and artefactual evidence
suggests a relatively high level of overseas contacts in this period. Any well preserved vessels of
this period, or any direct evidence for a significant tradine centre, are likely to be considered of
national or international importance, tracks of national or regional importance.  Other finds of this
period would probably be assessed as being of only local or regional importance but might be
upgraded, especially considering the high potential for paleo-environmental study.

194 The Roman period on Sheppey

fhough contemporary structures are all but unknown, much Roman material has been recovered from
sheppey. though it is uncertain how far into the marshes vocupation may have extended. Several
Roman salt-pans are known from the neighbouring mwainland and a pottery industry was centred in
the Upchurch Marshes: neither industry left visible remains ubove-yround though salt-working sites
are particularly tikely to ke beneath the Sheppey Murshes  Industrial features of this date would
probably be of regional importance, vessels nattonallv unportant.

~the preserved remains of a prehistoric or later timber trackway or of a boat but the probability of ... -




3.9.5 The medieval period in the Sheppey Marshes

in the early medieval period may be approximated from various sources. These were flanke by
twelfth to thirteenth century salt-working mounds, originally constructed on tidal mudflats, which
now stand out in the marshes. Counterwalls of various date also ¢ross the marshes and fish-weirs
may also survive here. Earlier medieval counterwalls and causeways should probably be assessed
as being regionally important and later ones.might also deserve similar treatment. Depending 1non
their degree of preservation and complexity, saltworking complexes of this penod would probably
be locally or regionally important but could, in exceptional cases, receive attention at a national level.

The coastlines of Elmley and Harty and the southern coastal margin of the Minster/Leysdown hills
d

3.9.6 The Swale to Straymarsh Cottages

The ferry dates from at least the 1360s and was in use until 1862, Its early name, Trinhide, suppests
a Sexon or earlier origin. A ferryman's liouse was boilt in 1367, Documentary. evidence from the
sixteenth century indicates that one may have stood on the Sheppey bank of the crossing but there
may also have been one on the mainland side. By 1769 there was a building on the mainland bank,
south of the current bridge, and another, in an enclosure on tho Sheppey bark, nocth of it. By 1816
rove iy et lenst one mose beilding, Feows s Fery oame, in o meinioad snclor s west oF the
Ladge. The Dulldiug on the Sheppey bank, perhups on e site of the 3o centiry or wachier
ferry house, probably lice beneath the modern ramp up (o the current bridge but its enclosure may
. ) ¢ Yo e XL, L L.
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embanked road was widened in the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries but these phases would
probably be of only local interest. A Viking army may have chosen this route when pursued onto
the island in 1016 and any tangible evidence for this would probably be regionally or nationally.
rmportant. The proposed route passes between two known medieval saltern mounds and might affect ..
any subsrdhary structures they may have had: it is uiso possible that the road may pass over the sites
of lost prehistoric, Roman or medieval salterns (see paragraphs 3.9 4-5 for their significance). The
route also crosses a probable fossilized creek alongside Old Ferry Road and various minor drainage
ditches:  paleo-environmental evidence from the former might be of regional importance if its
refationship with the old road can be established. |
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S aravmarsh Cottages to Neats Court

The proposed route rises out of the marshes onto slightly higher ground, representing the old shore
~whars regionally tmportant late Pleistocene or early Holocene land surfaces may survive, A
settlement, potentially perhaps of regional significance, mav once have stood here but there is
ctrrenily no certain evidence for one. Neats Court wis acquired by John of Gaunt in the fifteenth
century and then passed to Henry IV: it remains a pussussion of the Crown. Subsidiary farm
structures may be expected in the area south of the current road. though these are unlikely to be of
more than local importance. The route crosses a very ninor water channel, probably natural in origin
and unlikely to be of any importance.




3.9.8 Neats Court to Brielle Way

West of Neats Court the proposed route returns to low-lying marshland and crosses two drainage
ditches, only one of which is likely to be of any antiquity and neither of any archaeological
significance except, perhaps, in paleo-environmental terms. As elsewhere in the marshes, the new
road may overlie lost salterns. An earthen enimterwall crossed by the proposed route, and probably
Saxon or medieval in date, continues the line of one side of Queenborough Creek up to the old shore
line and the creek probably also once extended this far, Such a creek head, now represented merely
by a crooked ditch, may have served as an anchorage: as such, there is a relatively greater (though
still low) risk of encountering timber quays or vessels in this area Queenborough's municipal
boundary, established in the fourteenth century, ran along this and an adjoining ditch to Barre's Gate
on Main Road and thence to the foot of Doos Hill along another ditch crossed by the proposed route.
Barre's Gate, mentioned in medieval charters and on the site of a proposed junction, was probably
a medieval seftlement site and may have been earlier in date. Main Road is almost certainly of
Saxon date and it is quite possible that it has prehistoric origing, Archaeo'suioa! reraing at Parre's
Gate or beneath Main Road would probably be of local of regional significance. Paleo-environmenta?
evidence from the creck bottom and old shose line would probably: be of loca! or regional importance,
2o might cuch materiz! from narth of Main Pond
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a meander cut off when the northern counterwall was built in the faté eighteenth or early nineteenth
century, the western pair may have had a similar origin or have been artificial. Two large mounds
of unknown date and purpose, perhaps salterns, stood south west of Barre's Gate. As both-of these

mounds appear to have been shighted, they are most likely to be of only local Importance.
4 ARCHAEOLOGICAL IMPACT OF THE PROPOSED SCHEME -
4.1 indirect damage

tn addinen 1o the obvious potential for damage to any archasological sites from bridge and road
foolings and all associated groundworks, including remporary and permanent new service trenches
ar diversion of existing services, the heavy point-loading which construciion plant often IMposes can
be squatly destructive, especially when turning and sometimes at several metres depth. This threat
is not cenfined 1o just the new roadway easement but may imclude margins, plant access routes and
work compounds  Some sites may also be threatensd indirectly by e ironmental changes (see
paragraph 4 3.3). Indirect damage is particularly undesirable as the unexposed deposits affected
cannet be subjected to "preservation by record”.




4.2 Kingsferry Bridge

4.2.1 Banks of the Swale

The counterwall flanking the mainland side of the Swale is likely to stand on earlier embankments
and/or timber revetments. On the Sheppey side, it is likely that the embankment here is somewhat
later, closing off the fossil creek north west of Qld Ferry Road, but it is possible that the creek
narrowed at this point and that this stretch of the wall also conceals ancient origins. Though the
current design for the new bridge avoids both counterwalls, relatively short stretches of either
counterwall might be compromised during the construction phase whilst work on two or three of the
new piers might encounter early structures on the foreshore.

4.2.2 King's Ferry

The origimal ferry prabably plied between queys south east of (o passilly vider) the cyrrent bridge,
where the Old Ferry Road ran, so only cutlying revetmaats of "Trinhide” are liable to be 2 Fooped by
the proposed scheme. However, if any early timbers are encountered here, their recording and dating
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4.3 Counterwalls and timber structures in the marshes
£3.1 Countersealls

* Only relatively short stretches of the various counterwalls are liable to be affected by the proposed
route. The embankments which carry Old Ferry Road and Main Road are of particular interest and
both they and the roads they support are liable to be of multiple phases (see following paragraph).
It is currently envisaged that the finished road surfaces would be carried over these features, but
attention should be paid to the degree to which their integritv mav be compromised by preparatory
work and by vompacuon, during both the construction phase and the uperational life of the road. In
the inttul staces of construction, at least, the counterwalls would constitute obstructions to plant
movement and. unless very carefully protected, could be subjest 10 conziderable damage.




o

4.3.2 Timber structures

Wherever the proposed route crosses low-lying marshland (i.e., between Kingsferry Bridge and near
Straymarsh Cottages, and between Neatscourt Cottages and Main Road), it is possible that it will
encroach upon the site of anaerobically preserved remains of a prehistoric or later timber trackway
or boat. Fortunately, except as noted below, the probability of encountering either of these is fairly
fow, though boats are somewhat likelier to be found in two fossil creeks (one probably lying
immediately north west of Old Ferry Road, the other south of Mair Road). On current evidence,
medieval or earlier wooden fish-weirs might be found anywhere beneath the marsh. Whilst any of
the above remains would be particularly susceptible to indirect damage, they are likely to lay at some
depth and therefore be at risk from direct damage only where it is proposed to carry the new route
on piers or piles. Both Old Ferry Road (crossed twice by the proposed route) and Main Road
(beneath a proposed junction) are probably Saxon or earlier in origin and may have had timber
predecessors. A wooden track leading to Rushenden may lie below the counterwa!l flanking the
seuth zide of Tuesaborough Creelr, coavsed by e progroaed raat, e tiaber quays are @ persikili
around the fossilised head of thul creek, Less probable is the prescnce of a tind & predecessor 1o
the counterwall forming the north westars side of the putative fossilized creek past 2o 014 Ferry
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would thus be more suseeptible to direm damoge.

1.3.3 Implicarions of the discovery of timher strictnres
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to be preferred, for both scientific (FPG 16 1990, paragraphs 6, 8, 13; SBC 1994, paragraph 5.28,

resolution E12) and financial considerations, any such strategy must be accompanied by provision
to ensure that long-term anaerobic conditions and water quality are maintained and, perhaps,
monitored, There is no non-invasive technique currently available which would allow the presence
or utherwise of preserved timber structures 10 be determined in advance.

4.4 Other sites
4.4 T Prehistoric and Roman salterns

No prelistorie or Roman sattworks are known from the Sheppey marshes. though it is highly
probable that the latter, at least, exist. Assuming they are not overlain by more than two to three
metres of alfuvium. a magnerometer survey should locate any along the proposed route™ Where it
18 proposed to carry the new road on an embankment, and to minimise the compaction of underlying
strata, any such sires which he close to the surface are likelv to be ar risk but deeper ones would
probably be unatfucted. Piers or areas of close piling would compromisz all such remains within the
area concernacl.

Potiery or tile kilns should also show up on a magnetometer scan.




4.4.2 Medieval salterns

1 posed route passes between two known saltern mounds, probably of twelfth to thirteenth
century date, sufficiently closely for any peripheral structures to be considered to be at risk (one
extends about 5 m into the footprint of the embankment), Associated features may extend beyond
the limits of these mounds, though the evidence from Seasalter suggests that this is probably not the
case. Itis possible that other medieval salterns, either enveloped by alluvia or razed to ground level,
also lievalong the route. - These should be susceptible to.!ocation with a magnetometer but any
peripheral structures may not.

4.4.3 Possible site berween Straymarsh Cottages and Neats Court

Topographical considerations suggest that there may have been a medieval or earlier occupation site
on the slight rice where Old Ferry Road left the marshes. Standard ficld evaluation toch nigees should
estalblol whahins v vt this is likely to be the cosms The relovant area is crossed by the ey
roate and would also "iold a new roundabout and associited slip roads, buogely cul nio the existing

provsd swvface. Thic area is also an ehvicus candidate oite fer works enelezurss ond st torning
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possibly fourteenth century in origin, near the castle site. The fossilized creek would be crossed by
the proposed new road and a spur would cross the old shore line to meet a sltghtly diverted stretch
of the current A249 east of Queenborough Roundabout.  Dependant upon the antiquity and

navigahility of this streteh of the waterway, timber remaing of vessels or harbour fixtures might lie-
bencath the alluvia within the ¢reek area and other remains of any associsted structures might survive,
above the old shore line (which would itself be of paleo-environmental interest).  Shallow

groundworks might encounter archaeological remains in the vicinity of the counterwall, the old shore

line and Main Road but, assuming only low loadings are tmposed on underlying strata and

hydrological conditions are left unaltered, any remains elsewhere in this area are Itkelv to be affected
only by piers or piling

o il SO !

145 Barre's Care

The proposed new junction with Main Road will lie on the site of a group o small bulldings extant
at the end of the last cenrury and probably marking the position of a medieval or earlier occupation
site at the eastern end of » causeway leading to Queenborough  The <itx of one of two razed
mounds, perhaps salierns, south west of Barre's Gate would be clipped by a new slip way into
Queenborough Ambulance Station from a stretch of Main Road due to be ro- amped as part of the
proposed scheme.




3 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR MITIGATION

5.1 Indirect dama
In order to minimise the potential for indirect damage to the archaeological resource, it is
recommended that strict traffic-management controls are adopted during construction work and that
all areas where heavy plant (including lorries) will be employed are suitably protected from such

-+ damage. In view of the environmental value of sumounding land the former measure is, in any case;s..
desirable. Given the soft ground conditions likely to be encountered, the latter proposal would also
appear justifiable on logistical grounds. If possible, it would be desirable for turning circles, where
point-loading may be several times greater than elsewhere, to be restricted to areas already examined
archaeologically.

£.2 The BEwale
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radiocarbon dating and species identification. Any timbers threatened with destruction should be
systematically removed under archaeological supervision and placed in suitable short-term storage
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5.3.1 Counterwalls

It would be preferable to carry the proposed road over Old Ferry Road, over the counterwall running
paratlel o it and over the southern counterwall at Queenborough Creek without damaging them. Tf .
this, s considered (echinically or financially unfeasible, transects should be cul across the
embankments where they are intersected by the proposed route to at- least the depth to which.
construction work is likely to affect then directly or indirectly. This work should attenipt to date the
origins and chart the development of the structures and of the creek between them. Paleo-
environmental evidence should be collected in order to examine and compare the alluvial sequence
on both sides of the banks. The most northerly of the two transects on Old Ferrv Road should be
extended to examine the: sequence of deposits at the boundary between the superficial alluvia and the
London Clay, where late Pleistocene or early Holocene land surfaces may survive, perhaps
interdigitated with ailuvial deposits.  This site is of particulaf importance as tt should furnish
important data on hoth the medieval reclamation of the marshes and local variations to the post-
glacial marine transyression and regression sequence. The potential for Further freldwork and paleo-
environmental =tudy at each site should be assessed on the strength of this cvaluation work,




-

5.3.2 Timber structures

Where the proposed route crosses the marshes any remains other than salterns or kilns, which can
be located by means of a magnetometer, should be expected only at some depth. Therefore,
supetficial evaluation trenching between Kingsferry Bridge and Straymarsh Cottages, between Neats
Court and Barre's Gate and between Barre's Gate and Brielle Way, is likely to be of little or no
predictive value. However, there is a limited but inescapable possibility that construction work may
disturb timber structures (tracks, boats; quays or fish-weirs). If the new road is to be constructed
upon a raft or floating embankment, the loading this imposes must be suitably low. A possible
cousse of action in this case might be to machine-strip the affected area to an agreed depth under
archaeological supervision prior to the laying down of the base. Where, on the other hand, the road
is to be carried on piers, the pier positions might be sheet-piled and excavated or wider trenches with
baitered sides could be employed. In any of these cases, preliminary trenching should be conducted
by means of a light, back-acting 180° or 260° mechanical digger, with & teodl=vs dimbing bhucket,

under archagological supervision, with prleo znvironmental samples taken a3 rosepres™  Such

1

worln nin'u be condusted either Lo adviace of sonsliuction o, With sullabie G, s iie sunervision
3+ ) ) IS s

pret el canstrgntin s povven aad wnilened pron Sl el e e et ST TS
Flovae oo cloonld o0 o it features b oo . Lo WO S Ui '

Dl dlel i FLHLIIUL WAL Bsaiced LI e B e L L Y I S P A S S AT A SOOI 4 N1

nature, date, extent and degree of presesrvation of the material. If significant remains are identified,
the County Archaeologist will be notified immediately. A suitable archaeological response will then
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341 Prehistoric and Roman salterny

A magnetometer survey should be conducted in order to locate probable early saltern (or kiln) sites
along the wasement w the mwarshes, e Dable 1o damawe from consteusiion VAL, RN aiten

should be mechanically stripped and archacological deposits fully excavated by hand. Appropriate
paleo-environmental and dating samples should be recovered and assessed. :

¥ The possibility of prospecting pier positions by sinking small, closely spacud bore-holes,

backed up by limited excavation to investigate positive results, has also been investivated but such
an approach 1s likely to prove very expensive. '

¥ If the archaeological work is conducted as part of the construction process rather than prior
to it, the archaeologically and financially preferable option of simply re-siting the pier will probably
no longer bé feasible




. i

5.4.2 Medieval salterns

Where the proposed route passes between the saltern mounds IQ 11/100 and IQ 11/101 and where
it passes by the sites of the mounds east of Queenborough and south west of Barre's Gate, the
affected area should be evaluated by. trenches cut mechanically under archaeological supervision and
further mechanical or manual excavation and recording conducted as appropriate if peripheral features
are exposed, Any suitable paleo-environmental and dating samples should be recovered and assessed
in any case. Preserved organic remains should be recovered and placed in suitable short-term storage
pending assessment,

543 Straymarsh Cottages o Neats Conrd
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15 likely to be for open area excavation if structures of any antiquity are identified during evaluation.

3.4.5 Paleo-environmental daia from around Barre's Gate

Adlzvalalle bote-hole data for an e enanding Ton Brielle Wyt sowth ol 8o ononior s
the southern bank of QubenbL)mm;,h Creek al.uuld be examined, in consultation \\fIT.Ix appropriate
specialists, with a view to elucidating the nature and antiquity of the creek head  If necessary, further.
bore-holes should be sunk, collecting U4 samples. A transect across the old shore line, where it is
proposed to construct a slip road to the current A249, should be machine cut with a toothless ditching
bucket under archaeological supervision and paleo-environmental samples collected as appropriate.

3.5 Post-excavation

3.53.1 Finds processing
Any pottery, tile, bone, metulwork vre recovered should be suitably cleaned, marked, bln.gg_,t—.,d and
boxed. Perishable materials should first be assessed before arrangements are made

preservation and storage After siudy, all finds should be deposited in a st
with the client and with the appropriate authorities.
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5.5.2 Assessmient

The records of any archaeological fieldwork should be prepared to a suitable level of archive and
- assessed for further study. The field assessments of paleo-environmental (including pedological)
evidence should be followed by preliminary processing of a subset of any collected samples and
assessed for further study. Assessment work should consider the material both on a site-by-site basis
and in terms of contributing to an overall study of the development of the landscape and its
exploitation through tirne- S

553 Analyses

Further analysis of the archaeological and paleo-environmental material should be undertaken on the
basis of the foregoing assessment work and archival reports prepared.

T o, T
LA T e

LT ) . - o f D L . N " I [ ! o ) ..

resulis ol wny sigaifcant Tineiogs of G prejeul 80wl be pripired TOr Iciesiog b role i b i
-specialist journals as appropriate™ Fuller reports on any major discoveries should be prepared for
these journals, The publmatmn of a 1:—:35 technrcal account of the work for the general reader at the
!:‘. ;"\ - nf::w-' Y,. st _‘! R

6 COMCLnymT
0.1 Impact
6.1.1 General

In addition to the possibility of direct damage to any archaeological sites from aroundworks,
Pacaadieyg fervicn rencher biovy i leeding from construction plant can also be ver destructive.
= g I

Sorae sites may alse be threatened by snvironmental changes., Timber structures (boats, tracks, quays
and fish-weirs) are particularly vulnerable to both these forms of indirect damage. -

6.1.2 The Swale to Straymarsh Cotiages

Construction work on the new bridge may damage or destroy a relatively short stretch of the
counterwall on either side of the Swale: that on the mainland bank is likely to stand on an earlier
structure and that on the 1sland s1de mav do <o Timber quays from the early phases of the ferry may
survive and théir recording and datiny «houid be considered a priority. The medieval and later ferey
houses lie outside of the proposed eazement. Two short stretches of the slight embankment carryving
Old Ferry Road and one of the counterwall running parallel to it would be crossed by the new road.
The former 1s of particular interest and 15 likely to be of multiple phases. Putative peripheral features
associated with two known saltern moiads may lie beneath the proposed route. Other prehistoric,
Roman or medieval salterns, etther razed or submerged, may also lie along the route but should be
susceptible to location with a magnstometer.

34

E.g.. Proceedings of the Frehistoric Society, Britannia, Medieval Archaealugy or fost
Medieval Archaeology.




6.1.3 Straymarsh Cottages to Neats Court

A medieval or earlier site might stand on the slight rise where Old Ferry Road left the marshes and
prehistoric land surfaces may survive here. This is an area where extensive construction work is
planned, with slip roads leading to 1 new roundabout.

. 6.1.4 Neats Court to Brielle Way

The new road will probably cross the fossilised head of Queenborough Creek. Dependant upon its
age and size, timber remains of vessels or harbour fixtures may survive here. At least one side of
the creek head was bounded by a counterwall, which will be crossed by the proposed route. The
proposed new roundabout on Main Road lies on the site of what was probably a medieval or earlier
oceupation site at the end of a causeway leading to Queenborough., The causeway too will be

affacted by the new raad. Whe site o 6 razed mound, poreibly g salters, will Lo :'.:.'?;“.iw':rr’ Booe
proposed new entranay 1o Queenborouph Ambudance Saton A new slip road to the ou
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DRI

‘6.2.0 Indivect damage

U BN T S EE S A E N U S R
el O . . . F— A .

: T ) v 1 "l 1. !
DS el oy dd wil Suilauy profel if passizls, WLl e Gesaable for l.LI..Illlll_“:, Calads, widic

AT

Ty ]
Wiy O L.

pmnt-ln"w’um niay be several times greater than elsewhere, to be restricted to areas already examined
secnetegen 0 Any strategy For the preservation i siny of timber or other oruanic remains
BncDuntmed must be accompanied by provision to ensure that long-term anaerobic condiiions are

maintained.
6.2.2 The Swale

A full archaeological watching brief should be maintained during groundworks in the Swale and on
its banks. “Any apparently early timbers exposed should be sampled for dating and identification,
Any timbers threatened with destruction should be removed under archaeological supervision and
placed in suitable storage. Paleo-environmental evidence should be assessed during groundworks and
suitable samples collected if required. Evaluation trenches should be cut on the site of the enclosure
on the Sheppey bank and the potential for further work here assessed.

6.2.3 Counterwalls

lt would be preferable to varry the propuosed roud over the various counterwalls without damagin
them. If this 15 not feasible. wanssces should be cur and paleo-environmental evidence coliected
where they are intersected by the proposed route.  Iransects should also examine associated deposits.
most notably those flanking the old shore fine between Straymarsh Cottages and Cowstead Farm

‘The potential for further work should then be assessed for each site.




eice v, vecorded and sampled. "Wesn v rooosad route passes close (o la o o g

6.2.4 Timber structures

CGenerally, supe | evaluation trenching in the marshes is not advised. However, shouid the road
be rafted, a low loading must be maintained and any stripping required conducted under
archaeological supervision. If piers are to be employed, their positions might be excavated in
advance or under the co-supervision of an engineer and archaeologist. If any ancient features are
encountered, construction work at that position should be halted and adequate manual excavation,
recording and sampling undertaken to assess the material. If any significant remains are identified,
a sultable archaeological response will be devised in consultation with the appropriate authorities.

6.2.5 Salterns

A magnetometer survey should be conducted in order to locate any lost salterns or kilns along the
gazemaal o the marshes Whora Belile 0 erann P peasten=sing vl mlel giter cheptd 01,

salterns and may endanger putative peripheral structures, evaluation 1 siches should be cut in i
i roted area and further excavalio o recording conducted as appropiinte. Paleo-environmental
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6.2.6 Straymarsh Cottages to Brielle Way

renchies cut. A suilable arcigeclogleal response shouid then be fsimolaed.  The
magnetometer survey mentioned in the preceding paragraph should include the area of the easement
between this outcrop and the counterwall south of Queenborough Creek. This counterwall should

be examined by transect. All available bore-hole data for the vicinity of the Fossilized creek head

should be examined in consultation with appropriate specialists. Further bore-holes may be sunk and

transects cut across the old shore line. Shallow evaluation trenches should be cut on the site of the
proposed junction with Main Road and the potential for further work here assessed.

6.2.7  Post-excavation

Non organic finds should be suitably processed, organic rematns assessed and then processed as.
appropriate.  Fieldwork records should be prepared for archive and assessed for further study.
Preliminary processing and assessment should be conducted on a subset of paleo-environmental
samples, Further analyses should be undertaken on the basis of the foregoing assessments and
archival reports prepared. A general summary should be prepared for publication at county level and
more detailed reports for national periodicals prepared if and as appropriate. A less technical account
may also be produced for local distribution.
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7.3 Penriodicals

Archaenlogia Cantiona, 1858-1995.

Bygone Kent, 1980-1995,

Cantinum, 1965-1975 (discontinued),

Invicta Magazine, 1908-1913 (discontinued).

Journal of Kent Local H fory (now Journal of Kent History), 1975-1995.
Kent Archaeological Review, 1965-1995.
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Medieval Archacology, 1D3T7.1994
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The Thames Estuary, 7000-6500 BC, showing current and ancient
coastlines (after Wilkinson & Murphy 1995, fig.126)
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Relief map of Sheppey, showing boundary of the alluvia and Fig.3
extant and recorded salterns (filled and hollow squares)
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